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          1  WATERFRONTS AND PARKS AND RECREATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  Good morning,

          3  everybody. Welcome to today's hearing on the

          4  Waterfronts held jointly with the Committee on

          5  Parks.  My name is Mike Nelson.  I have the honor to

          6  chair this Committee.

          7                 The subject of today's hearing is

          8  From Industrial Uses to Parkland: Adapting the

          9  Waterfront.

         10                 Today the Committee on Waterfronts

         11  and the Committee on Parks and Recreation, chaired

         12  by Helen Foster, will explore the City's plans for

         13  unused or under-used waterfront property owned by

         14  the City.

         15                 The waterfront has always been an

         16  important natural resource for New York City,

         17  providing trade, commerce and transportation and

         18  manufacturing.  However, the volume of maritime

         19  activities and manufacturing uses located on New

         20  York City's waterfront declined.  In the 60s and

         21  70s, vacant waterfront parcels had become common.

         22                 On April 22nd, 2007, Mayor Bloomberg

         23  announced a Long Term Sustainability Goal, that all

         24  New Yorkers live within ten minutes of a park.  One

         25  of the ways the City plans to make this happen is by
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          2  completing underdeveloped destination parks and

          3  opening up abandoned industrial waterfronts for park

          4  uses.

          5                 Over the past several years, New York

          6  has invested hundreds of millions of dollars in the

          7  creation of parks, esplanades, piers and other open

          8  spaces on the waterfront. Specifically, over the

          9  last five years, the City has added more than 300

         10  acres of new parkland, many of which were areas of

         11  the waterfront that were abandoned by industry.

         12                 Today, we hope to find out what park

         13  development plans the City has for our unused or

         14  under-used waterfront.

         15                 I'd like to thank also Jeff Baker,

         16  Counsel to the Committee, and Colleen Pagter, the

         17  Policy Analyst; and Parks and Recreation Committees,

         18  Jeffrey Haberman, Counsel to the Committee, and

         19  Patrick Mulvihill, Policy Analyst, and Council

         20  Member, Chair Foster will be here shortly.  And I'd

         21  like to thank Joe Addabbo from Queens for being here

         22  with us, of course Dan Garodnick from Parks

         23  Committee, as well, and didn't I just see -- okay,

         24  she's coming back.  Okay, the other member who is

         25  involved is Council Member James, who will be here.
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          2  She was here.

          3                 This is budget time.  So, it is

          4  extremely hectic for the City Council because,

          5  although there was a handshake, it ain't over until

          6  the lady sings, to keep it P.C.

          7                 The first two people testifying,

          8  could we please ask Mr. Josh Laird, Assistant

          9  Commissioner for Planning and Natural Resources of

         10  the Parks Department to join us, and Mr. Doug Jones,

         11  Assistant Vice President of EDC.

         12                 Also joining us is Council Member

         13  Alan Gerson.

         14                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Sure, I would

         15  like to speak first.  And I know the rules.

         16                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LAIRD:  Good

         17  Morning.  Good morning, Chair Nelson.  I know I saw

         18  Chair Foster here a few moments ago, and members of

         19  both the Parks and Waterfront Committees.  On behalf

         20  of Mayor Bloomberg, First Deputy Mayor Patricia

         21  Harris and Commissioner Benepe, I am Joshua Laird,

         22  Assistant Commissioner for Planning and Natural

         23  Resources with the Parks Department.

         24                 With me today is Michael Schnall, the

         25  Director of Government Relations for the Parks
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          2  Department and Doug Jones from EDC.

          3                 Thank you for the opportunity to

          4  speak with you regarding our ongoing mission to

          5  transform industrial waterfront into parkland.

          6                 I'm going to, I hope, paint a picture

          7  this morning of an urban waterfront re-emerging from

          8  decades of decay and neglect, into a shoreline of

          9  parks and esplanades and greenways.

         10                 Over the past five years, Mayor

         11  Bloomberg has committed to enhancing open space and

         12  promoting healthy living for all New Yorkers,

         13  whether that has included increasing waterfront

         14  access, and indeed, water access, creating plans to

         15  add over 2,000 acres of new parkland, or launching a

         16  long-term sustainability plan that will ensure a

         17  park within a ten-minute walk of every resident.

         18  This Administration recognizes the importance of

         19  improving the quality of life for our City.

         20                 With over 800 athletic fields, nearly

         21  1,000 playgrounds, 550 tennis courts, 53 public

         22  schools -- public pools, there are a lot more

         23  schools than that -- 53 public pools, 48 recreation

         24  centers, 13 golf courses and 14 miles of beaches, we

         25  are New York City's principle provider of athletic
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          2  and recreational facilities.

          3                 New York's waterfront has always

          4  played a crucial role in the City's economy.  And

          5  during the boom years of the maritime industry, the

          6  waterfront was primarily used for industry and

          7  trade.  Preservation and protection of active

          8  maritime and industrial uses, is critical to New

          9  York City's job base and resulted recently in the

         10  creation of the Mayor's Office of Industrial and

         11  Manufacturing Business, and the establishment of 16

         12  industrial business zones, to foster

         13  high-performance business districts.

         14                 However, where industrial activity

         15  had dissipated over the years due to various global

         16  economic trends, large swaths of the City's

         17  waterfront have stood under-utilized and

         18  inaccessible to most New York City residents.  In

         19  more recent years, the re-conceiving of the

         20  waterfront and a balance of maritime activity and

         21  public open space for recreation, has captivated the

         22  imagination of New Yorkers.

         23                 The City's waterfront is one of the

         24  last major frontiers for park development and the

         25  creation of new recreational opportunities.  Under
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          2  Mayor Bloomberg's administration, we have begun

          3  capturing more of these precious urban solaces.  New

          4  Yorkers can now enjoy our rivers and harbor, both as

          5  a recreational place, and an area of natural beauty.

          6    Over the last few years, we have increased

          7  waterfront access throughout the City.  We have

          8  broken down bulkheads to create areas where you can

          9  stick your toes in the water.  We've added boat

         10  launches.  We've restored wetlands.  In Staten

         11  Island, people can now fish from an over 800 foot

         12  long pier at Midland Beach.  In Brooklyn, the first

         13  new phase of Brooklyn Bridge Park, we completed a

         14  few years ago, transformed a parking lot on the

         15  industrial waterfront, into a beautiful overlook

         16  along the East River.  With its views of Manhattan

         17  and the Brooklyn Bridge, and wide steps cascading

         18  down to the water, the park has really become a

         19  major destination for Brooklyn.

         20                 The new five acre Barretto Point Park

         21  in the Bronx and Fort Totten in Bayside, Queens,

         22  both add great new waterfront promenades to our

         23  portfolio.  The 32 mile Manhattan Waterfront

         24  Greenway gives bikers, hikers, pedestrians and

         25  commuters access to over 1500 acres of parkland.
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          2  This greenway, along with the opening of Riverside

          3  Park South and Hudson River Park, has brought life

          4  to a previously foreboding waterfront.

          5                 Since 1993, the City Planning

          6  Commission has used the City's zoning text to

          7  leverage public access to and along the waterfront,

          8  as part of many new private development initiatives.

          9  Thanks to the Waterfront Zoning Plan, the public has

         10  access to a walkway along the East River in

         11  Brooklyn, and at Schaefer Landing, and can enjoy

         12  open space by the Hudson River as part of the West

         13  End Towers Development at 63rd and 64th Streets,

         14                 When the Greenpoint Williamsburg

         15  Development is complete, the result of a major

         16  rezoning of that stretch of the waterfront, there

         17  will be a two mile public esplanade along the East

         18  River, a daisy chain of adjacent, privately

         19  constructed public esplanades.

         20                 I should also note that over the past

         21  year or so, this administration has convened a

         22  series of meetings with State, Federal and other

         23  City agencies that have jurisdiction within the

         24  harbor, these are State Parks, National Parks,

         25  Governor's Island. The idea is to re- conceptualize
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          2  our collection of separate locations along the

          3  waterfront, or separate parks and rethink of it as a

          4  harbor district.  And it's a process that's

          5  examining marketing of New York Harbor, the

          6  connectivity of our sites, and the shared interest

          7  we have in high quality management and operation,

          8  and consistency of the message we're sending to the

          9  public.

         10                 City- wide, much of the Parks

         11  Department's portfolio of waterfront properties

         12  consist of beaches, wetlands and title marshes that

         13  help improve water quality and provide habitat for

         14  aquatic and avian life.  Other types of waterfront

         15  properties and structures under our jurisdiction,

         16  include the full array of engineered structures,

         17  bulkheads, sea walls, piers, relieving platforms and

         18  so on.

         19                 Our waterfront properties are

         20  regularly maintained and inspected by Parks

         21  Department employees.  Normal wear and replacement

         22  of deteriorating surface elements, benches, fencing

         23  and paved surfaces, are handled by borough

         24  maintenance staff.  More significant structural

         25  defects, such as cracks, depressions, uneven
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          2  surfaces and sink holes, are referred to our

          3  engineering staff for more comprehensive evaluation.

          4    Much of our engineered waterfront infrastructure

          5  was built over 60 years ago and has reached the end

          6  of its useful life span.

          7                 There are a number of recent and

          8  pending park projects that have, or will address,

          9  and/or radically change the City's waterfront edge.

         10  And I'd like to give you a brief overview of some of

         11  those projects.

         12            The West Harlem Piers in northern

         13  Manhattan is being developed by EDC.  Upon

         14  completion, next Spring, jurisdiction will most

         15  likely change over to the Parks Department.  The

         16  Department of City Planning and EDC have worked

         17  closely with the community, including Community

         18  Board 9, and groups such as West Harlem

         19  Environmental Action, to advanced plans for the

         20  area, receiving extensive input from working

         21  committees, made up of various stakeholders,

         22  including elected officials, government agencies and

         23  community organizations.  The West Harlem Piers

         24  project will transform a former parking lot, between

         25  125th and 135th Street, into a beautiful and vibrant
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          2  waterfront park.  The new recreational pier will

          3  support various activities, including fishing,

          4  boating and environmental education.  And the new

          5  pier will accommodate a variety of vessels, with the

          6  main portion of the deck allowing excursion boats

          7  and water taxis to dock in West Harlem, as they did

          8  decades ago.  Dedicated bicycle and pedestrian paths

          9  will provide a critical link in the waterfront

         10  greenway, connecting Cherry Walk, which is a part of

         11  Riverside Park, to the southern end of the site with

         12  the northern segment of Riverside Park, so from

         13  125th to about 145th Street.  This project was

         14  supported by a $250 thousand allocation by former

         15  Council Member Stanley Michaels.

         16                 On the other side of the borough, on

         17  the east side, at Sherman Creek along the Harlem

         18  River, with funding from about $200 thousand from

         19  Council Member Martinez, the Parks Department is

         20  currently constructing five new street end parks at

         21  the Harlem foot of East 202nd, 203rd, 204th, 5th and

         22  6th Streets.  The transformation of these dead end

         23  pockets of broken asphalt and trash is intended to

         24  serve as the first phase of a long term effort to

         25  reclaim the Sherman Creek waterfront, and create
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          2  continuous waterfront access along its shoreline.

          3  An interagency planning team, led by the office of

          4  Deputy Mayor Doctoroff, EDC and the Department of

          5  City Planning, continues to look at the broader

          6  neighborhood and explore options for linking these

          7  five parks and connecting them back to Swindler's

          8  Cove and the Harlem Speedway.

          9                 On Randalls Island, an extension of

         10  comprehensive planning and efforts focused on the

         11  South Bronx and Hunts Point, is going to result in a

         12  effort led by EDC and the Parks Department to

         13  construct a new greenway connection, from the Bronx

         14  to Randalls Island, a bridge from the Bronx to

         15  Randalls Island at a level that would avoid that

         16  having to hike up a bunch of steps up to the

         17  Triborough Bridge, and make a valuable connection to

         18  all the facilities at Randalls Island.  The Sports

         19  Foundation there is also leading an effort to

         20  construct a bike and pedestrian trail system along

         21  the island's 4.5 mile shoreline, as well as engaging

         22  in a salt marsh and freshwater wetland restoration

         23  at Little Hell Gate Inlet.

         24                 In the Bronx, one of the great new

         25  gems among the City's waterfront parks, Barretto
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          2  Point Park, was completed last October, and that is

          3  really one of the great examples of interagency

          4  cooperation on the waterfront.  Our work with DEP,

          5  our neighbors there, EDC, which led the

          6  investigation of hazardous materials at the site,

          7  and the Mayor's office of Environmental Coordination

          8  which over saw our re- mediation of the site.

          9                 In Hunts Point, the end of Lafayette

         10  Avenue, we were given an additional sliver of land

         11  by EDC, part of the Hunts Point market, to build a

         12  park, really the result of a community led effort,

         13  to establish a park at that site, which has

         14  tremendous views to Soundview Park, across the Bronx

         15  River.

         16                 In Brooklyn, EDC is leading efforts

         17  to re- mediate a former landfill site at Bush

         18  Terminal, at the former Bush Terminal Piers, and

         19  create a new publicly accessible recreation space.

         20  EDC coordinated the hazardous materials testing with

         21  the Mayor's Office of Environmental Coordination.

         22  Re- mediation is being done by the State, under the

         23  State's Environmental Re- mediation Program.  Upon

         24  completion, the 24 acre park will be managed and

         25  operated by the Parks Department.  I should note
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          2  that this project was supported by a $500 thousand

          3  allocation by Council Member Sara Gonzalez.

          4                 In Queens, the Parks Department will

          5  implement the first major phase of its master plan

          6  for Fort Totten, which will include the demolition

          7  of an area of old 1950s town houses to create an

          8  expanded park landscape which will be designed as a

          9  passive park.

         10                 And finally, Parks will also

         11  implement phase one of the Queens East River and

         12  North Shore Greenway.  This project will implement

         13  the in- park portions along the East River portion

         14  of this 10.6 mile plan greenway, from the Queen's

         15  side of the Pulaski Bridge, north to Astoria Park,

         16  and east to Laguardia Airport and the Flushing Bay

         17  Promenade.  And this project was also supported by a

         18  $660 thousand allocation by Council Member Eric

         19  Gioia.

         20                 There are many other projects that we

         21  could discuss, Greenpoint and the Bronx side of the

         22  Harlem River are efforts there.  But I would be

         23  remiss if i didn't also mention the incredible

         24  opportunity we have to close off one of the most

         25  difficult stretches of the waterfront along the east
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          2  River in Manhattan, from 42nd to 54th Street.  The

          3  opportunity to salvage a part of the Outboard Detour

          4  Roadway constructed by State DOT, and to create a

          5  new esplanade in front of the United Nations campus,

          6  is one we should be looking to take advantage of.

          7                 In addition to all these great new

          8  projects, the Wetlands Transfer Task Force created

          9  and collaboration with the Mayor and the City

         10  Council, was charged with the task of inventorying

         11  City- owned wetlands and reviewing the feasibility

         12  of transferring those wetlands to the jurisdiction

         13  of the Parks Department, for long term protection.

         14                 For the past year and a half, the

         15  Task Force has assessed, what turned out to be more

         16  than 2100 City- owned wetland properties.  We've

         17  been in contact with every community district in the

         18  City, and convened two public listening sessions.

         19                 In addition to those sessions, the

         20  Task Force organized two other separate gatherings

         21  of City agencies and other governmental and non-

         22  governmental harbor stakeholders.  And for anyone

         23  who couldn't join us in person, Parks hosted a WTTF

         24  website, not to be confused with the WF World Wide

         25  Wrestling Federation, where information was readily
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          2  available, and comments to the subject could be

          3  submitted, on the subject, could be submitted.

          4                 We believe the Task Force has

          5  accomplished a great number of its objectives in the

          6  relatively short time period allotted for its work.

          7  And it's gone a long way to preserve and protect our

          8  naturally occurring wetlands across the five

          9  boroughs.           It still remains for the Task

         10  Force to report to the Speaker and Mayor on its

         11  work.  And consultation with Environmental Committee

         12  Chair, Gennaro, and City Hall, the Task Force

         13  expects to submit its report shortly, within the

         14  next few months.  At that point, Parks expects to

         15  work with its sister agencies to follow up on the

         16  work of the Task Force, as called for in PlaNYC.

         17  Now this will mean acquiring shorelands where more

         18  feasible, using the Task Force recommendations and

         19  updated inventory to try and resolve other

         20  outstanding transfer issues.

         21                 Implementing many of the wonderful

         22  projects I've just described, does not come without

         23  its challenges.  The soaring cost of construction

         24  has had a significant impact on the cost of building

         25  waterfront projects.
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          2                 You should also be aware that

          3  although the City and State of New York share many

          4  common goals and values when it comes to the

          5  protection of New York Harbor as an ecological

          6  resource, some of the work we want to do may not be

          7  allowed under current DEC regulations.

          8                 DEC regulations do not recognize many

          9  recreational uses of the waterfront, such as

         10  esplanades and greenways, as water dependent uses,

         11  meaning the DEC may have little flexibility in

         12  permitting new waterfront parks, if they are planned

         13  to include new or reconstructed platforms, bulkheads

         14  or public access piers.

         15                 Also critical, has been the

         16  determination by DEC that the shade cast by over-

         17  water structures such as piers and platforms, is

         18  detrimental to the fish habitat below, and therefore

         19  objectionable under State environmental regulations.

         20    This has led to a DEC policy under which piers

         21  that collapse may not be eligible for

         22  reconstruction, and degraded shorelines cannot be

         23  rebuilt or extended even to the width of a modest

         24  pathway, except under tightly restricted

         25  circumstances and with the extraction of substantial
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          2  and often costly mitigation.

          3                 Much of the City's investment in the

          4  waterfront over recent years has been anchored by

          5  plans for the creation of new parks and esplanades

          6  and greenways.  This approach has been crucial to

          7  promoting environmental awareness about the

          8  waterfront, and to justify in our continued

          9  investment in its restoration.  It's the City's goal

         10  to promote the redevelopment of the waterfront in an

         11  environmentally responsible and sustainable manner.

         12  As we move ahead, it is crucial that we work with

         13  the State to make certain our plans promote a

         14  balanced and environmentally sound approach to

         15  waterfront development.

         16                 In conclusion, Mayor Bloomberg

         17  presented his vision for an innovative future to

         18  tackling our City's issues and we are excited to be

         19  at the forefront of that effort.  The prospect of

         20  investing 2.8 billion in capital over the next ten

         21  years, is exciting and I can tell you, extremely

         22  daunting.  Our agency and its talented staff hope to

         23  rise to the challenge of building a park system that

         24  will not only be more accessible to all News

         25  Yorkers, but will also allow us to expand the
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          2  fitness, greening and community development agendas

          3  that have been our guiding principal for the last

          4  five years.

          5                 We encourage the Council's leadership

          6  in identifying new and creative sources of funding

          7  for maintaining and enhancing the City's shoreline.

          8  Parks will be working with the Mayor's office, EDC,

          9  DOT and the other waterfront stakeholder agencies to

         10  develop a comprehensive and consistent strategy for

         11  expecting, maintaining and building and managing the

         12  City's waterfront.

         13                 And now I think Doug Jones and I

         14  would be happy to answer whatever questions you

         15  have.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  Thank you,

         17  Commissioner Laird.

         18                 I want to mention that Council Member

         19  Melissa Mark Viverito from Manhattan has joined us.

         20  And we have a question, well Alan is not here, oh,

         21  Chair.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Sorry.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  Sure.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  I'm sorry for

         25  being late.  I actually called Melissa, she called
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          2  me, and I said I was on the FDR and she beat me here

          3  and I left the Bronx at five minutes to eight. I

          4  could have been in Bermuda quicker.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  You could have

          6  bicycled.  You would have gotten here quicker.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Yes, exactly.

          8  I'd probably be dead by the time I got here, because

          9  I'm so out of shape.  But so, I really apologize and

         10  thank you for starting and I'll read the testimony,

         11  catch up and then ask questions.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  Sure.

         13                 Okay, Council Member Garodnick?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK:  Thank you

         15  very much.  And good morning, gentlemen.

         16                 I wanted to be here this morning.  I

         17  am not a member of the Parks Committee and I'm not a

         18  member of the Waterfronts Committee.  But I did want

         19  to be here this morning to talk to you all a little

         20  bit about the east side of Manhattan.  And I know

         21  that you all are very well aware of both the

         22  challenges and the opportunities that are presented

         23  today by the various activities taking place of the

         24  east side of Manhattan with regard to waterfronts,

         25  former manufacturing zones, etc.
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          2                 Today, we have the Con Edison water

          3  site, as you know, which is approximately nine acres

          4  of land which is zoned for manufacturing, which we

          5  expect there will be a rezoning proposed before the

          6  Council, through the ULR process, probably before

          7  too long.  We also, as you mentioned in your

          8  testimony, I was glad to hear you mention the

          9  reference to the area between 42nd and 54th Streets,

         10  along the East River with the opportunities

         11  presented by the Outboard Detour Roadway, and the

         12  FDR Drive reconstruction.

         13                 Along with the Mayor's PlaNYC goal to

         14  put a park within a ten minute walk for every New

         15  Yorker, I wanted to just express my view of the

         16  importance of doing that where you have particular

         17  opportunities to do it, and on the east side of

         18  Manhattan, in the upcoming years, there certainly is

         19  that opportunity, and it was very germane to this

         20  particular hearing. So, I wanted to just be here to

         21  note that of course my Council District is 51st out

         22  of 51 Council Districts, in terms of its open public

         23  park space.

         24                 I noted on the chart that you handed

         25  out and in the chart up from that there is no
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          2  category for potential sites.  It is just category

          3  for waterfront City parks, future waterfront parks,

          4  but not for potential.  And I wanted to know if you

          5  could comment on that and get your reaction to the

          6  opportunities on the east side.

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LAIRD:  We

          8  noted a few sort of opportunities that are already

          9  in the pipe line on the map, but I suppose it's one

         10  of the faults of our GIS layers, we've only entered

         11  sites that are in our portfolio.  There are a lot of

         12  opportunities along the East River, and starting

         13  from the south you know that the administration has

         14  developed a master plan for redeveloping the East

         15  River from the Battery, up through East River Park

         16  to, I don't want to say the equivalent of Hudson

         17  River Park, but to transform what is just an asphalt

         18  stretch underneath the FDR viaduct, into a beautiful

         19  esplanade and greenway.  North of there, East River

         20  Park, the agency, the Parks Department is in the

         21  middle of a, I think it's about $75 million

         22  reconstruction of the East River Park bulkhead, sea

         23  wall which will totally revitalize that park.  North

         24  from there, Stuyvesant Cove, already an existing gem

         25  and the greenway connection we were able to sort of
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          2  rig, north past Waterside up towards the heliport.

          3  The real sort of not there, is what we do once from

          4  the heliport north has plans for the redevelopment

          5  of the Con Edison site, the plans for the

          6  reconstruction of the FDR in that area, United

          7  Nations Consolidation Plan and our efforts to

          8  salvage some portion of the Outboard Detour Roadway

          9  come to be.  But if we can make that, the

         10  opportunities are all sitting out there, if we can

         11  make that connection and bridge that gap, it is a

         12  straight shot up to 125th Street, along the East

         13  River esplanade and John Finley Walk and Carl Shurtz

         14  Park.  So that would be a huge, huge connection.

         15                 North from there we do, in the long

         16  term, have an opportunity to create new parkland

         17  north of 125th all the way up to 145th Street.  The

         18  City owns that stretch of the waterfront.  For the

         19  next few years, City DOT is engaged in a very

         20  necessary project to reconstruct the East River and

         21  Harlem River bridges in that area, and they're

         22  options are to stage on that waterfront property, or

         23  stage on 1st Avenue.  And the choice, although we

         24  would love to build that park sooner than later, is

         25  obviously to let them stage in that area.
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          2                 So, we've already constructed a park

          3  from 135th Street, to, I think, 139th and we'll be

          4  constructing another phase of that park up to 145th

          5  Street this year.  So now in the long term,

          6  stretching from the Battery to 125th and up to 145th

          7  Street, north of there becomes a little bit more

          8  tricky, because there the FDR, like it is by the UN,

          9  is right on the water's edge.  There is no land

         10  outboard of the Harlem River Drive.  And of course,

         11  the Harlem River, in that area, is so narrow, that

         12  the opportunity to build out in the river is pretty

         13  limited.  You'd be right in a navigable waterway.

         14                 So, that may be a stretch for a long

         15  time that will have to be the subject of an inland

         16  detour, unless you're in a kayak on that particular

         17  stretch of the Harlem River.

         18                 So, those are the East River

         19  opportunities.  From there, the Harlem Speedway,

         20  Sherman Creek, north and then across to the west and

         21  back down.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK:  So I

         23  appreciate the potential and the way to make it

         24  work, but it sounds, and I just want to get your

         25  sense, how important then would you say it is to
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          2  fill that gap, that gap which is the one which is

          3  potentially the most difficult and the most

          4  important, in order to successfully achieve that

          5  greenway all around Manhattan, and that gap that I'm

          6  talking about is the gap between the gem of

          7  Stuyvesant Cove Park and north of the Outward Detour

          8  Roadway up to Carl Shurtz Park. How important would

          9  you say that is?

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LAIRD:  I'd

         11  say it's crucially important.  I'd say when the

         12  Mayor announced plans for the Manhattan waterfront

         13  greenway at his first State of the City Address, we

         14  all sat back and thought the one thing we will never

         15  be able to address, is that gap in east Midtown.

         16  There's just no way to bridge that.  And then lo and

         17  behold, the UN Consolidation Plan came along.  And

         18  the Outboard Detour Roadway came along and with

         19  that, the opportunity, not an inexpensive

         20  opportunity, but really the means by which to think

         21  about actually making that investment. We have the

         22  Outboard Detour Roadway, although the deck has been

         23  demolished now.  State DEC and the Coast Guard and

         24  the Army Corps let us keep the feet of that

         25  structure in the water, meaning that we just need to
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          2  build a new deck on top of it, saving tens of

          3  millions of dollars off the potential cost of

          4  building that stretch.  And the United Nations

          5  Consolidation Plan, Parks Department, I think in

          6  anyone's living memory has been always loathed to go

          7  with any plan to alienate and give up parkland.

          8  This is one particular instance where the Mayor and

          9  the Commissioner saw instantly, an opportunity in

         10  giving up Robert Moses playground, just the asphalt

         11  field on 1st Avenue, to create a waterfront

         12  esplanade that could serve the full spectrum of the

         13  community there, rather than just sort of players of

         14  asphalt court sports, and just an opportunity not to

         15  be missed.  If we lose the UN Consolidation Plan, if

         16  we lose the Outboard Detour Roadway, it'll be

         17  generations again, before we can consider bridging

         18  that gap.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK:  Plus

         20  you're putting aside the issue of Robert Moses Park

         21  for one second.  Of course the community shares a

         22  lot of the concerns of the Parks Department about

         23  the notion of giving away or alienating one of the

         24  very, very few parks that exist.  But also seeing

         25  that this entire neighborhood and entire waterfront
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          2  has a potential for a massive improvement and major

          3  reconstruction with the FDR Drive and the ODR and

          4  the Con Edison Watersite site.  I wanted to ask you,

          5  first of all, I wanted to thank you for your

          6  commitment and the $2.8 billion commitment of 10

          7  years.  It's extremely important.  The ODR work that

          8  has already been done to preserve the structure that

          9  needs to be preserved in order for this to be

         10  successful, we all owe you some thanks for your work

         11  on that.

         12                 The Parks Department was a

         13  participant last weekend in a charette that was

         14  organized between the Metropolitan Waterfront

         15  Alliance, Community Board 6, Municipal Arts Society

         16  and my office and the other elected offices to

         17  explore where we brought six landscape architects

         18  together over the course of a weekend to explore

         19  what could be, for Parks in the area between 35th

         20  Street and essentially the area covered by the ODR.

         21  And very interestingly, the landscape architects

         22  came up with a very bold invisionary (sic.) design

         23  of, and by the way, I did not know what a charette

         24  was before this experience, so for anybody who does

         25  not know, it is a public exposition of a design
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          2  plan, where you bring world class landscape

          3  architects together and they hear presentations from

          4  the various stakeholders in the neighborhood,

          5  whether it's the community, the parks Department, in

          6  the sense that you were all kind enough to

          7  participate in that.  We thank you. The developer of

          8  the Con Edison Watersite site was present and

          9  participated, and presented what their goals and

         10  priorities were for open space in the neighborhood.

         11  These design architects took that information in,

         12  and over the course of the weekend, created a

         13  rendering of what could be, in that neighborhood,

         14  which was extraordinary.

         15                 And last Sunday they came out with a

         16  very visionary design which involved decking over a

         17  portion of the FDR Drive and bringing people closer

         18  to the waterfront and connecting 1st Avenue to the

         19  East River over in that are, the area which you

         20  appropriately pointed out as crucial, and the

         21  occasion to give that straight shot all the way up

         22  to 125th Street.

         23                 I just wanted to ask you whether you

         24  had any occasion to see the end result, and if you

         25  had any reaction to any of that?

                                                            31

          1  WATERFRONTS AND PARKS AND RECREATION

          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LAIRD:  I

          3  unfortunately have not had a chance to see the end

          4  results, but I do want to thank you and the other

          5  area electeds and MAS and Metropolitan Waterfront

          6  Alliance and the others, for your leadership, and in

          7  thinking about this area.  There are all these

          8  separate projects in the area that bureaucratically

          9  have to, to a certain extent, remain separate in our

         10  thinking, because they're each the subject of their

         11  own separate process and it's really new, and other

         12  community leaders have really sort of insisted on

         13  sort of keeping an eye on the bigger picture, and

         14  thinking about these projects together and how

         15  they'll come together in the end.  And it's been

         16  incredibly useful and I think that sort of, without

         17  even having seen the results of this weekend, this

         18  sort of momentum built by efforts like that, and the

         19  creation of sort of a community momentum and support

         20  for those efforts, really makes, in some ways, the

         21  City more difficult because we know we're under the

         22  microscope.  But I think in the larger sense, it

         23  makes our job much easier because we can focus on

         24  working towards goals and solutions, rather than

         25  just looking sort of short-sightedly (sic.) at
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          2  obstacles.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK:  Well, I

          4  appreciate that and I'm going to end there.  But I

          5  just wanted to -- we will be happy to send you the

          6  end results just to make sure that you have it.  And

          7  I'd love to talk to you about that, and we will

          8  obviously continue to be focused on this issue.

          9  It's an extremely important one, I think to the

         10  City.  It's not really a local issue.  I think it

         11  belongs as part of your greenway on the map, so the

         12  next time you come here, I hope that we can include

         13  that as part of the vision or the goal.  But for

         14  your participation and all of your hard work in all

         15  of this, I wanted to thank you, and I appreciate

         16  your continued focus on that particular part of the

         17  City.  Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  We will delve a

         19  little bit into the sustainability aspects too,

         20  which is, I'm sure, very difficult and deep, and

         21  something we probably won't come up with new answers

         22  today, but at least we can toss it about.

         23                 I thought it was nice of you to also

         24  mention Council Members that have helped in the

         25  years past.  Some jaded people might say practical,
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          2  but put holes into that, you mentioned also Stanley

          3  Michaels, which was classy.  Because he's not here

          4  and he can't help you anymore.

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LAIRD:  He was

          6  a great friend of the Parks Department.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: A very nice

          8  touch, I appreciate that.

          9                 Before Council Member Mark-Viverito,

         10  Council Member Addabbo wanted to ask some questions.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Thank you,

         12  Mr. Chair.  And as a member of both the Waterfronts

         13  and Parks Committee, I want to thank both of our

         14  chair people today and their staffs for putting on

         15  this hearing.

         16                 Assistant Commissioner Laird, thank

         17  you for your time and testimony in the work that you

         18  do, obviously in the Parks Department.

         19                 Looking at the map eluded to earlier,

         20  most of my district is surrounded by green.  I have

         21  a lot of waterfront property, so knowing that the

         22  Parks Department does interact with other agencies,

         23  EDC's here and we know you do, my question is, do

         24  you interact with the Army Corps of Engineers as we

         25  look to protect our beaches?  My district has over
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          2  ten miles of beaches, we have 14 miles in the City.

          3  But I wanted to know, what kind of interaction do

          4  you have with the Army Corps of Engineers as to

          5  replenish and protect our beach waterfront?

          6                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LAIRD:  Well,

          7  we do have regular contact with the Army Corps of

          8  Engineers on a variety of fronts, but more

          9  specifically with the beaches.  We have been working

         10  with them for many years now on re- nourishment

         11  programs at Coney Island and at Rockaway Beach, and

         12  have been inching our way towards a program for

         13  Orchard Beach.

         14                 The staff here in New York City have

         15  been generally very good to work with.  In recent

         16  years, sort of more globally or nationally, the Army

         17  Corps of Engineers has shifted its focus away from

         18  involvement in recreational resources.  And really

         19  concentrates its effort on issues of storm

         20  protection and navigation and engineering and so

         21  forth.  And so, they have been somewhat hamstrung in

         22  their ability to help us.  But we still get by, I

         23  mean, as they will tell you, if Congress puts money

         24  in our budget to do a beach nourishment, then we do

         25  it.  And so, it's been crucial that we work with our

                                                            35

          1  WATERFRONTS AND PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  Congressional delegation to get that money in our

          3  budget.

          4                 Of course, in the case of the

          5  Rockaways, it's a little bit easier of a task

          6  because of the storm protection value of beach

          7  nourishment in the Rockaways, is very clear.  In

          8  fact, we have had some success in recent years.

          9  It's a constant process, you pump in the sand, and

         10  then the winter comes along and a lot of it

         11  disappears.  And there's a lot of competition for

         12  clean sand these days.  There are a lot of projects

         13  going on around the City that need clean sand.

         14  Landfills that are being capped and various

         15  construction projects.  So, the Army Corps does have

         16  a program for giving away clean sand, a beneficial

         17  re- use program.  We've got to stay in the game and

         18  make sure that the needs at Rockaway, Coney and

         19  Orchard, which really needs a nourishment,

         20  desperately needs clean sand, are also beneficiaries

         21  of that program.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  I appreciate

         23  that, and since you had mentioned Rockaway, and I

         24  appreciate that, as well, do you know of any current

         25  plans for replenishment there?
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LAIRD:  I

          3  don't.  We went through a extended cycle a decade or

          4  so or more, where the Army Corps was coming in every

          5  two years.  It was attached to their dredging of

          6  Jamaica, of their normal dredging of the navigation

          7  channel at the inlet there at Jamaica Bay.  That has

          8  since dwindled down.  The official problematic

          9  agreement we had, I believe it expired.  So, we need

         10  to, and again, thinking of this competition for

         11  beneficiaries for sand, we need to enter into a new

         12  agreement and we need to find funding, both the

         13  periodic nourishment cycles were supposed to be

         14  balanced by a study to look at, sort of engineering

         15  solutions to keeping some of the sand on the beach.

         16  And that did not get funded, and so it's a never

         17  ending need to keep nourishing periodically.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  I look

         19  forward to working with you, and of course if I can

         20  be of any help with your contact with the Army Corps

         21  of Engineers in regards to replenishment, please let

         22  me know.

         23                 And lastly, as we go through the

         24  current properties and obviously, future properties,

         25  especially with the waterfronts, this land becomes
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          2  very desirable, both not only by the City in the

          3  Parks Department and so forth, but by developers.

          4  Do you see us as we go toward the sustainability in

          5  the increase of park properties that we move away

          6  from the issue of park alienation?  Or is that sort

          7  of the problem of the issue, the fact that

          8  waterfront property is so desirable?

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LAIRD:  No, I

         10  don't see -- there is growing competition for the

         11  land that's there.  But I don't think we feel like

         12  our existing parks are endangered.  It's fairly

         13  routine that somebody comes in, a developer, and

         14  looks at a park site and just sees undeveloped real

         15  estate, and we have to send them away.  But we are

         16  growing the park system at a pretty good clip in

         17  recent years.  As I said in my testimony, when you

         18  factor in Fresh Kills, this administration will have

         19  added over 2,000 acres of parkland, we give away

         20  practically nothing.   It would be hard to think of

         21  any project out there that has done more than clip a

         22  few square feet of parkland.  So, really what I

         23  think is so commendable about the efforts of this

         24  administration and prior administrations, is the

         25  effort to leverage private development to create
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          2  public open space, so City's waterfront zoning tax

          3  ensures, I mean the whole notion of creating a

          4  continuous public esplanade along Greenpoint, was

          5  unthinkable prior to 1993, because it was a

          6  privately owned water's edge.  There was no City-

          7  owned land to improve.  But with underwater front

          8  zoning and thanks to the zoning that was passed,

          9  we're going to take advantage of the value that the

         10  City created, by rezoning the waterfront to have the

         11  private sector create and pay for the maintenance of

         12  a public esplanade.  Beyond that, our expectation is

         13  that they will actually transfer ownership of that

         14  esplanade to the City, to the Parks Department, but

         15  will continue to pay us in perpetuity each year to

         16  maintain it.  So, it will not be a privately owned

         17  public esplanade, it will be a publicly owned public

         18  esplanade, which is what the City's shoreline should

         19  be.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAIRD:  Assistant

         21  Commissioner Laird, I appreciate the detailed

         22  answer.  Thank you very much.  And it's good to hear

         23  that the alienation issue may not be such an issue

         24  as we go forward.  Thank you very much.  Mr. Chair,

         25  thank you very much.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  Thank you,

          3  Council member. Yes, it's a bold and beautiful plan.

          4    But when you look around at other parts of the

          5  country, waterfront property is usually utilized and

          6  beautiful and the place to go to and it's nice to

          7  know that the City's headed in that direction.  But

          8  again, the sustainability, we must keep this in the

          9  back of our minds.  You know you give your kid a

         10  cell phone, but you don't give him a battery

         11  charger.  And this is where I'm afraid we're headed.

         12    It would be useless without one.

         13                 Council Member Mark-Viverito?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:  Thank

         15  you, Mr. Chair. Good morning.  Doug, nice to see

         16  you.

         17                 I wanted to just say a couple of

         18  things first. Clearly, I'm very excited about PlaNYC

         19  and the sustainability issue and expansion of parks.

         20    I've had a very good working relationship with the

         21  Department of Parks.  I was at a ground breaking

         22  yesterday.  There's a ribbon cutting today happening

         23  in my district, around more park space and green

         24  space.  So, that's always a great day.

         25                 But I have some concerns with regards
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          2  to the maintenance and sustainability moving

          3  forward.  And I think I want to take my experience

          4  with Randalls Island, as a key example here. But

          5  also in light of an article that came out in the New

          6  York Times this morning, where it really does talk

          7  about that.  It's laudable, it's great that we are

          8  making a commitment to expanding park space. But the

          9  issue becomes, what are we going to do with regards

         10  to maintaining it?  What I've seen, what we've seen

         11  a lot of critics, advocates, myself, I'm very much

         12  about making these parks available and accessible,

         13  without limiting their accessibility to any one

         14  group or any one community.  And what we are seeing

         15  is, these heightened debates with regards to FCRC,

         16  what people are calling the privatization of some of

         17  our park space, limiting access to communities.

         18  Because we're looking for creative ways of financing

         19  and maintaining our parks moving forward.  And

         20  that's a real concern that I have and I think that

         21  that's a wrong direction to be heading in.

         22                 In particular, when you look at some

         23  of these conservancy groups that get set up to

         24  really protect or maintain our parks, they become

         25  very proprietary with the parks.  And they think
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          2  that they are the ones that are going to determine

          3  and decide the future and what is to happen with

          4  that space.  And with Randalls Island as a key

          5  example between the water park and the privatization

          6  of the ball fields, that's just the wrong vision, I

          7  believe.

          8                 So, my question is, what is the

          9  Department of Parks, how are you planning, as you

         10  plan for everything else, how are you planning on

         11  the preservation and the sustainability of these

         12  parks moving forward?  And I really hope that

         13  there's some serious consideration and that we are

         14  steering ourselves away from looking at the private

         15  monies.  Because a lot of times it comes with great

         16  strings attached.  Which means, limiting access and

         17  that's a great concern to me.

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LAIRD:  The

         19  notion of Parks financing themselves through these

         20  partnerships is one that, although there are some

         21  prominent examples out there, it really has very

         22  limited application.  The vast majority of the

         23  City's park system, waterfront parks, are maintained

         24  by the Parks Department through our expense budget.

         25  And in fact, we have drawn a line, there was a time
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          2  when the agency constantly spread itself thinner and

          3  thinner every time an opportunity came along to

          4  create a new park, we would say okay, we can't lose

          5  this opportunity, let's just do it, even though the

          6  City's budget didn't necessarily allow us to expand

          7  our maintenance staff.  That system is changing.

          8  We've taken a harder line about ensuring that we

          9  have the resources to maintain new parks, as they're

         10  planned.  And so we are dealing with City OMB at a

         11  much earlier stage in our planning process, so that

         12  we don't get to a point of saying, all right, here's

         13  a new park, and only then, thinking about how we're

         14  going to maintain it.  So, it's become integral to

         15  the very early planning stages of our projects.

         16                 The reality is that the PlaNYC we

         17  talk a lot about the investment in building new

         18  parks, but it comes with, in many ways this is

         19  perhaps the most gratifying for us, with an

         20  increased expense budget.  We will be hiring

         21  hundreds of new park workers over the next couple of

         22  years that will be flowing into the boroughs,

         23  already are starting to flow into the boroughs.  So

         24  our abilities have increased and of course, we look

         25  for opportunities always still, to bring private
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          2  support into the system of the Greenpoint rezoning

          3  is a great example of how we, again leveraged the

          4  value that was created through the rezoning to get

          5  the private sector to pay in perpetuity for the

          6  maintenance of the parks that are being created.

          7  But they're going to be handing that money to the

          8  Parks Department and we will take jurisdiction of

          9  the parks and we will maintain them with our staff.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:  Well,

         11  I thank you for that and I look forward to that, and

         12  I'm sure that with the PlaNYC, the budget of the

         13  Parks Department is going to grow considerably, my

         14  hope, as well.  But I also just want to say this as

         15  a last thing, you know, my concern here also is with

         16  regards to the relationship of the Department of

         17  Parks has with these groups that are set up to

         18  maintain the parks.  Now I may have a very cordial

         19  relationship with the Randalls Island Sports

         20  Foundation, but I do not agree at all with their

         21  vision.  I think it really clashes with mine and I

         22  think it really clashes with the community's vision

         23  for what park space should be.  So, my concern also,

         24  just moving forward, because as the parks grow,

         25  there's going to be opportunities where a lot of
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          2  these different conservancy groups, foundations, are

          3  going to be set up.

          4                 We had a hearing here a couple of

          5  months ago about Governors island.  That's obviously

          6  on the front line there, coming up.  So, I really

          7  think we need to look a little bit more closely

          8  about the relationship between Parks and these

          9  foundations and that Parks exercises a little bit

         10  stronger influence over them.

         11                 So that's just my point of view, my

         12  vision.  You'll be hearing a lot more from me about

         13  this in the future.  And I thank you all for your

         14  time and thank you, Mr. Chair.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  Thank you,

         16  Council member.  Out of respect to colleagues who

         17  are not here from Staten Island, out of curiosity,

         18  is anything planned for that borough?

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LAIRD:  Oh,

         20  yes.  The biggest park project in generations, Fresh

         21  Kills, is certainly at the forefront of that effort,

         22  which is a waterfront park and although the early

         23  phase of the project is going into construction this

         24  year, really, until we complete our EIS for the park

         25  plan, there won't be any construction beyond that.
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          2  So we're really about a year away from beginning in

          3  earnest with construction at Fresh Kills.  But that

          4  certainly is not all that is happening.  There are

          5  projects on the north end, south shore, new south

          6  shore greenway that is open in phases.  And over the

          7  past few years, looking at the entire complex of

          8  wetlands and marshes, on the west shore of Staten

          9  Island, really from Fresh Kills all the way up

         10  through Arlington Marsh, there are some tremendous

         11  opportunities, not so much to create active

         12  recreation spaces, but to take advantage or to

         13  preserve and protect some of the City's remaining

         14  natural resources, as part of our efforts to clean

         15  the harbor City's waters, reduce point and non-

         16  point pollution and to reduce storm water discharges

         17  into the combined system to reduce CSO overflows.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  Okay, it wasn't

         19  a hard question.  Just wanted to show we're also

         20  looking at other people's backyards, as well,

         21  thinking City- wide.  We may have to base line some

         22  money for this, for the future, I would think.

         23  Otherwise, I'm afraid what these parks could look

         24  like in about ten or twenty years.

         25                 Any other colleagues, or Chair?  Oh,
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          2  Chair Foster, sure.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Again, I

          4  apologize for being late.  A couple of questions.

          5  With, and I have expressed it a number of times, I'm

          6  very concerned with this when we talk about self

          7  sustaining parks and I also said a number of times,

          8  I think we have in New York City and have the

          9  potential to create more a two tier system of parks

         10  in this City and what you see with the wealthier

         11  communities and it's supposed to be this trickle

         12  down that they can pay for their parks and then it

         13  will go more to maintenance.  And I think that we're

         14  giving private developers and wealthier people an

         15  opportunity to do what the government and the City

         16  should be doing.

         17                 That being said, my concern is

         18  access.  Where we look, and you knew you couldn't

         19  get away without me bringing up Yankee Stadium, when

         20  we look at that plan, the access to the waterfront

         21  that is going to be delivered, or developed, excuse

         22  me, is to the south of the stadium.  Now to the

         23  north of the stadium where the community resides,

         24  there is the Summit Avenue bridge that I brought up

         25  many times, which is the only way to get across the
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          2  Major Deegan to the waterfront.   What are we doing

          3  to develop access to the waterfront so that people

          4  that again, north of Yankee Stadium, community

          5  residents that have always bore the brunt of Yankee

          6  traffic, and all the headache that goes with it, can

          7  benefit from this so called great stadium idea?

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LAIRD:  Access

          9  to the waterfront in that area is limited, there's

         10  no question, and a real challenge.  You have the

         11  Major Deegan on a viaduct there.  You have Metro

         12  North and Amtrack corridors coming down.  There are

         13  a lot of potential accesses, is cut off by those

         14  things.  You mentioned the Summit Avenue bridge.  I

         15  mean, you know that we are reconstructing the bridge

         16  to lot 13, the pedestrian bridge that connected to

         17  parking lot 13 which is to Yankee Stadium which is

         18  now being reconstructed to host a new Metro North

         19  station by the stadium,

         20  but will actually improve the connection to the

         21  stadium, and from the stadium back down to the

         22  waterfront.  The retail project at Bronx Terminal

         23  Market is creating new access to the waterfront from

         24  the east.  So, there will be for people who live up

         25  to the north, there will really be three access
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          2  points.  There will be the pedestrian bridge that's

          3  I guess, the Summit Avenue bridge, the Metro North

          4  bridge, we're calling it now, it sort of needs a

          5  better name, and the access from the east from the

          6  retail market.  I wouldn't certainly try and

          7  describe that as ideal.  Our goal is to develop a

          8  park there that is a real destination, that will be

          9  worth the effort it may take to get there, and from

         10  any direction.  We are programming it with what we

         11  call destination activities.  We don't think of it

         12  as a neighborhood park.  We think of it as a park

         13  people plan to go to whether it will be to play in

         14  the ball fields that are there, or to play on the

         15  tennis courts that are there. Those are activities

         16  that people typically sort of organize themselves

         17  around and schedule their day around.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  My concern and I

         19  hear that, my concern, and I am going to keep saying

         20  it is that again, like this Metro North access and

         21  the bridge that is being done for the benefit of not

         22  the community.  And the real access to the community

         23  comes through the Summit Avenue bridge.  Because, of

         24  course we've got this new Gateway Project and my

         25  concern has been and continues to be, that long
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          2  after the Yankees continue to lose and continue to

          3  be behind Boston by eight and half games, we've

          4  lived there.  And the problem is when you look at

          5  this development, when you see what's going on, we

          6  put the cart before the horse, meaning we've done

          7  this for Metro North fans to come in so they don't

          8  have to drive, though we've increased parking

          9  spaces.  We're doing the Gateway, this is because we

         10  later got this sweetheart deal.  At some point, when

         11  we develop parks and waterfront, we have to do it

         12  with the community in mind.  When we look at

         13  Brooklyn Bridge Park, there has been concern that

         14  how are the public housing people going to access

         15  the park and is it going to be a public park?

         16  Meaning, I reside in this great hi- rise that looks

         17  out on this park.  Am I going to feel like I have

         18  ownership and more privilege than the kids that are

         19  going to walk from the NYCHA facility?  And we have

         20  to, as a City, and especially as a Parks Department,

         21  make sure that we are not creating this two tier

         22  system.  Because a person's perception is the

         23  reality.  And the reality is that when you create,

         24  you know, Randalls Island, just however we want to

         25  cut it and however we're saying the City is getting
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          2  from it, the people that are accessing it and

          3  gaining the most are a small few.  And that will

          4  continue to be my concern.

          5                 What is being done in terms, and I

          6  don't know if this falls in your area, what is being

          7  cone in terms of the development of these

          8  waterfronts and concessionaires and giving them the

          9  opportunity to have concessions?  Does it come

         10  through the community so that for example, all this

         11  waterfront that's being built at Yankee Stadium, we

         12  could have our local vendors in the park, maybe

         13  opening a concessionaire with, you know, a Frito

         14  stand or something, as opposed to another Union

         15  Square Cafe, opening in the Bronx, I'm just throwing

         16  out names.

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LAIRD:  I'm

         18  going to have to sort of back off a little bit

         19  because it isn't my area, but I can say that the

         20  process for waterfront concessions is no different

         21  than they are for inland park concessions..  And

         22  that is that we follow the City's procurement policy

         23  board regulations that do contain sort of

         24  procurement processes, RFPs that can be quality

         25  based but the mandate is open public competition for
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          2  these concessions.  That is the sort of fundamental

          3  driving force behind the policy board rules and so

          4  beyond that, I don't know the rules well enough to

          5  say what the opportunities are.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Well, that's

          7  okay.  That's another hearing.

          8                 How closely do you work with other

          9  agencies?  And I'll give you the example.   Bridge

         10  Park and Roberto Clemente State Park are so closely

         11  together physically, that it would seem that there

         12  would need to be some joint partnership with the

         13  State Park agency and the City Park agency, to kind

         14  of develop Brooklyn Bridge Park and having access

         15  into Roberto Clemente State Park and then into the

         16  waterfront, that you end up dealing with the number

         17  of different State and City agencies.

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LAIRD:  We

         19  have a very close relationship with State Parks.

         20  We've already sort of re- affirmed that relationship

         21  with their great new Commissioner, Carol Ashe and

         22  their new Regional Director, Rachael Gordon.  We've

         23  already met with her several times, and only her few

         24  weeks in that position, the City Parks Commissioner

         25  sits on the State's Park Commission for New York
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          2  City.  We work together at Hudson River Park at

          3  Brooklyn Bridge Park and we have adjoining

          4  properties in a number of locations.  As you point

          5  out, Roberto Clemente, Clay Pit Ponds in Staten

          6  Island and we will have adjoining properties on the

          7  Brooklyn waterfront in Greenpoint.  So, we have

          8  talked with them about both looking at

          9  programmatically at what we do, and operationally,

         10  what we do to see how we can help each other.  And

         11  they obviously have their, you know, maintain their

         12  parks on the State payroll and they've different

         13  titles and all that stuff.  It's not quite so easy,

         14  but there are opportunities.

         15                 And I think Commissioner Benepe has

         16  shown a great interest in sort of partnering with

         17  our fellow park agencies and has in the past

         18  convened meetings at our headquarters at the arsenal

         19  of the five families, City parks, State parks,

         20  National parks, Brooklyn Bridge park and Hudson

         21  River Park. Now there are really six families, with

         22  the addition of Governors Island.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  But there is a

         24  relationship.

         25                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LAIRD:  Very
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          2  much so.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Good.  One of

          4  the things that I find very good about the Parks

          5  Department, at least for when I allocate money, is

          6  the scope and design meetings, and how active the

          7  community is involved in being able to design their

          8  park.  Does that apply also for waterfronts?  Is

          9  there scope and design and is the community involved

         10  in saying, you know, we'd like this, we don't want

         11  this, that type of thing?

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LAIRD:

         13  Absolutely.  We start our design process for any

         14  project, including waterfront projects, by going to

         15  the community and talking about the scope.  The

         16  elements that the community would like to see in

         17  whatever the park plan.  And then we come back, the

         18  schematic level again, to make sure we've done it

         19  right.  And we'll come back again if we need to.

         20                 I think, though I'm perhaps taking a

         21  risk here in bringing up Yankee Stadium again, in

         22  spite of all the --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Big risk.

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LAIRD:  -- In

         25  spite of all the obvious community issues with the
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          2  program, we actually, I think, had a very successful

          3  process with them about the design of the waterfront

          4  park and we've come back several times, and whatever

          5  people think about the plan, the park that is built

          6  there, we want it to be the best park it possibly

          7  can, and we want it to meet the needs of the

          8  community, as best it possibly can.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Now I definitely

         10  would agree with you, in terms of that aspect of the

         11  Yankee plan.

         12                 Two more questions, how, oh okay.

         13  We've heard that from kayakers and others, that

         14  there needs to be more access into the water.  As we

         15  go forward and look to develop waterfronts that

         16  aren't developed or in the process, are we making, I

         17  don't know what the thing, launch it, so that they

         18  can get out in the water?

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LAIRD:  We

         20  are, and I think one could point to almost any of

         21  the new waterfront parks in the making, and there is

         22  a plan for a launch.  I think we are moving from a

         23  sort of informal process of simply saying, can we

         24  add a launch here?  Maybe we should add a launch

         25  here, to looking at the City's water network more
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          2  comprehensively.  And under the leadership of our

          3  Queen's Borough Commissioner, Dottie Lewandowski,

          4  who's an avid kayaker.  We are actually working with

          5  advocates in the hand powered boat community to come

          6  up with a water trail system, so we can begin to

          7  think about really linking sites, not just sort of a

          8  scatter shot approach.  I'd say we have struggled

          9  somewhat as an agency, that has to take

         10  responsibility with what happens when you create a

         11  boat launch.  How we come up with sort of standards

         12  and guidelines for making those launches safe and

         13  understanding what water conditions are like in an

         14  area planning for the novice kayaker, as well as the

         15  experienced kayaker, and making sure that we're not

         16  putting anyone in harm's way.  But we're lucky in

         17  that so much of the advocacy community out there

         18  among kayakers and rowers, are also recognized that

         19  part of their mission is to educate and train

         20  novices and encourage it.  And that's what they're

         21  all about.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Who monitors

         23  water traffic? I would assume with more launches and

         24  more water taxis and you're just going to have more

         25  water traffic.
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LAIRD:  The

          3  Coast Guard ostensibly oversees sort of vessels in

          4  the water around the harbor. We have gone to State

          5  DEC and the Coast Guard and State Parks to ask about

          6  what standards are out there that sort of help us

          7  gauge whether a site may be a good site for a

          8  launch, or not such a good site for a launch.  We

          9  wouldn't want to sort of throw someone into an area

         10  with dangerous currents or heavy duty commercial

         11  traffic. And those regulations don't really exist at

         12  this point.  So, again, we're grateful that people

         13  in the advocacy community and the non profit

         14  community have been sensitive to that issue, and

         15  have been trying to work with us to make sure we're

         16  doing these launches correctly and safely, and that

         17  we're educating the boating community out there.

         18  But there really is not a formal set of guidelines

         19  or standards or rules for where launches should go.

         20  There are rules of the road, so to speak, once

         21  you're in the water, about vessels passing each

         22  other.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  The last

         24  question, or it might come out as a comment is, how

         25  much, no it's coming out as a question, how much
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          2  involvement do you have with the disabled community

          3  to make sure that these waterfronts are accessible,

          4  and kind of going beyond the 88 guidelines?  Because

          5  I know we've had hearings about parks and their

          6  scope and designer, the reconstruction and simple

          7  things that I would say walking people don't think

          8  of in terms of a curb, or things like that, that

          9  really prevent wheel chair bound people from getting

         10  close to the park or how to open a gate.  So, how

         11  much involvement has the disabled community have?

         12  And I know that you have a liaison on staff, but

         13  really making sure that the waterfront is accessible

         14  to everyone.

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LAIRD:

         16  There's been a lot of effort.  Obviously, we have

         17  for years, been obligated to comply with the ADA

         18  Act, but beyond that, and under this administration

         19  and under Commissioner Benepe, the mandate has to go

         20  beyond the minimum requirements of the law to create

         21  a park system, specifically in this case, a

         22  waterfront park system that is accessible to all

         23  people in the community, of whatever ability. And it

         24  can be a challenge when you talk about a dock that

         25  is floating up and down or a boat launch.  But there
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          2  are ways to do it.  You may have to make a ramp

          3  longer so that the pitch doesn't change so much as

          4  the tide changes, or it may have to wider.

          5                 On a slightly different front, we

          6  obtained a grant a year or so ago, to install

          7  wheelchair accessible mats at some of our City

          8  beaches, that get rolled up and taken away, but

          9  during the beach season can be rolled out, so that

         10  people in wheelchairs can get across our beaches to

         11  the water.  So, we are sort of institutionalizing

         12  that kind of thinking within the agency and within

         13  our design process, not just how we comply with the

         14  law, but what can we do to make our parks as

         15  accessible as they possibly can be.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.  I

         17  just want to kind of reiterate what Council members

         18  have said, that this is a great goal but we've got

         19  to remember that it's not just about building them.

         20  We have to have maintenance and sustainability.  And

         21  I think conversations that we've had in the past is

         22  that the maintenance true upkeep hasn't been where

         23  we need it to be.  And many times, as Council

         24  members, we are funding to refurbish a park that was

         25  recently refurbished, or not too long ago
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          2  refurbished, because we haven't put maintenance

          3  dollars in.  So as much as we do, and especially

          4  with waterfront, because they take more wear and

          5  tear from the environment.  We've got to make sure

          6  that we put the money ahead of time for what's

          7  coming down the road.  It is like the cell phone

          8  with no battery charger.  Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  Thank you, Chair

         10  Foster.

         11                 Just reminded me of something else,

         12  too.  I've had a lot of people call my office,

         13  constituents who are in wheelchairs going to

         14  Brighton Beach area and/or Manhattan Beach, Coney

         15  Island. The Parks Department, you are over all City,

         16  right?  Any discussion about that happening?  How

         17  they can do it safely, though?  Because my feeling

         18  was that you can't just put concrete out there

         19  because I think it would shift and become a pretty

         20  precarious situation. But are you working on that,

         21  did you say, or another type of material?

         22                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LAIRD:  Yes,

         23  it's a mat that rolls up, rolls out and then rolls

         24  back up.  So, that we've now tested with the

         25  manufacturer and actually specifically that the
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          2  grants that we got was championed by Marty Marr of

          3  our Brooklyn Parks Office.  And so, Coney Island

          4  will, in fact, be the pilot case, the pilot site for

          5  that project, that accessibility project.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  I know it is

          7  speedily coming along.  I'm glad to hear that.

          8  Thank you.

          9                 Gale Brewer?  Council Member Gale

         10  Brewer has joined us.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  Do you have a

         13  question?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Yes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  Sure.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Thank you

         17  very much for your list and the work that you're

         18  doing everywhere, the 79th Street Marina, always

         19  issues, but thank you.

         20                 I just had a question.  I know you

         21  have a lot of schools that have harbor or water as

         22  their theme.  But then you have some schools that

         23  are just regular high schools.  There is a private

         24  school in my area, just to give an example, as you

         25  may know, that has a boat the somebody gave them.
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          2  And the kids are learning marine biology and there

          3  is tons of scholarship money as a result.

          4                 So, my question is, is that something

          5  that's too far fetched?  I know there are insurance

          6  issues, somebody's got to run the boat, someone's

          7  got to dock the boat.  But the notion of where you

          8  have some of these marinas having, again, private

          9  funding, special grants, et cetera, some discussion

         10  about how to have young people learn land side in

         11  terms of the lab, and then actually implementing it

         12  in the water.  Is that something that's ever

         13  discussed or thought about?  Obviously the harbor

         14  schools and others are probably doing it, but just

         15  for the regular schools.  I say this, not only is

         16  this a good science, but there is a lot of

         17  scholarship money in it.

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LAIRD:  It's

         19  an interesting question.  I think it's one that

         20  probably needs to be followed up. We have programs

         21  for swimming, and rangers lead canoe tours of the

         22  Bronx River and other places.  But I'm not aware

         23  that we have any programs that address sort of

         24  boating and boating skills.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  It's not
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          2  boating skills. It's marine biology.

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LAIRD:  Marine

          4  biology.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Very

          6  specific.  Because if you have some marine biology

          7  in high school, then when you apply to college, it's

          8  a big scholarship gainer.

          9                 So, I'm just saying, that would be

         10  something to think about.  Again, you're going to

         11  tell me there's an insurance problem, I know all the

         12  issues.  But a lot of the private schools now have

         13  boats.  And the kids are doing the marine biology

         14  and they're getting scholarships.

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LAIRD:  You're

         16  describing something that could fit in very nicely

         17  with our mandates and mission as a park agency.

         18  Education about the marine environment is important

         19  to us, just as it is for the upland environment.

         20  So, we should follow up and figure out if there is a

         21  way to make it work.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay.  And

         23  the second question, picking up seniors, however

         24  they're mobile, again, whenever I try to get the

         25  seniors to the park, I think the issue is always
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          2  transportation.   And again, trying to work with

          3  DFTA, not every senior center has a bus.  So the

          4  question is, down the line, when you develop these

          5  parks, somehow, a lot of them have benches and

          6  places to have lunch and so on.  But the problem is

          7  always the transportation.  So, that's something to

          8  think about, again, perhaps, special grants, special

          9  effort.  But they can't get there many times unless

         10  there's some way to get there.

         11                 And then the third issue is, when you

         12  have a housing development that's near water, again,

         13  working with NYCHA, because I find NYCHA doesn't

         14  move.  It stays.  So, my question would be, again,

         15  special money, special grants, budget, is always a

         16  concern, but figuring out ways that the two can be

         17  combined.  Again, perhaps special programs to do

         18  that.  Just something to think about.  Thank you

         19  very much.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  Thank you,

         21  Council Member Brewer.

         22                 Any of my other colleagues have any

         23  questions for the panel?

         24                 Okay, Council Member Gallagher?

         25                 Okay.  And Gerson, they're here.
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          2  They're here. They're here with us.

          3                 Okay.  I think there's another panel

          4  that's coming.

          5                 I want to thank you all so much for

          6  being here and enlightening us very much.  And

          7  knowing we have a lot, a lot of things to come up

          8  with.  Again, the maintenance.  Okay, you're charged

          9  with this responsibility even in the next

         10  administration. We hope you'll still be here.

         11                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LAIRD:  That's

         12  what we think about.  Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  You're welcome.

         14  Thanks.

         15                 The next panel will be Leena Krishna

         16  Swamy from Congress Member Carolyn Maloney's office.

         17  I hope I pronounced it correctly, almost correctly,

         18  and Roland Lewis from the Metropolitan Waterfront

         19  Alliance, and Sheelah Feinberg, New Yorkers for

         20  Parks.

         21                 Hi.  Will you be the lead off batter,

         22  so to speak?

         23                 And you can correct --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  And I was going

         25  to say, you can tell us how to say your last name.

                                                            65

          1  WATERFRONTS AND PARKS AND RECREATION

          2                 MS. SWAMY:  You were in the right

          3  church, wrong pew.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  I was a couple

          5  of seats away.

          6                 Could you turn, is the green light

          7  on?

          8                 MS. SWAMY:  Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  Now you may have

         10  to announce your name again.  Thank you.

         11                 MS. SWAMY:  I will.  Leena Krishna

         12  Swamy, from Congresswoman Maloney's office.  I will

         13  be delivering testimony on her behalf today.

         14                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         15  express my concerns about the potential

         16  redevelopment of industrial space into parkland in

         17  New York City.  As you know, there are two major

         18  sites in my district, the 14th congressional

         19  district, along Manhattan is east side which could

         20  be used to create valuable park space and access to

         21  the waterfront.

         22                 Specifically, the redevelopment of

         23  the former Con Edison Power Plant sites will be the

         24  most significant change to the East Side landscape

         25  in generations.  This should be viewed as a
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          2  extraordinary opportunity to create something

          3  wonderful in an area that has been cut off from the

          4  public eye for generations.

          5                 I am working to ensure that this land

          6  will be developed responsibly with proper attention

          7  devoted to creating park space and waterfront

          8  access, for residents and the East Midtown

          9  Community.

         10                 The East Midtown Community already

         11  ranks among the last in the City, in terms of parks

         12  and open space.  I, along with community leaders and

         13  fellow elected officials, have been searching

         14  tirelessly for ways to create waterfront access and

         15  additional park space in this community.  This goal

         16  is one step closer to being accomplished, because of

         17  the City's commitment to exploring the possibility

         18  of retaining the Outerboard Detour Roadway, the ODR,

         19  as a waterfront esplanade.

         20                 The ODR is a three lane, partially

         21  enclosed roadway located along the FDR over the East

         22  River stretching from 54th Street to 63rd Street.

         23  The roadway was constructed by the New York State

         24  Department of Transportation for temporary use

         25  during the reconstruction of the FDR, and was

                                                            67

          1  WATERFRONTS AND PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  recently dismantled.

          3                 Last July, I initiated one of the

          4  first open discussions about the possibility of

          5  using the temporary detour route as an esplanade, in

          6  a community meeting, I held in my district office,

          7  with local elected officials, representatives from

          8  the New York City's Department of Parks and

          9  Recreation, the New York City Economic Development

         10  Corporation, the New York State Department of

         11  Transportation, the Army Corps of Engineers, The

         12  United States Coast Guard and members of Manhattan

         13  Community Boards number 6 and number 8.

         14                 Since that July meeting, the City has

         15  been holding a series of discussions in determining

         16  the feasibility and cost of converting the ODR into

         17  a greenway that would help complete the emerald

         18  necklace of open waterfront space encircling the

         19  island of Manhattan.

         20                 Certainly the City has been meeting

         21  with State and its Federal agencies whose approval

         22  is needed to create the greenway.  The City has also

         23  decided to absorb the cost of removing the caissons,

         24  if it is determined that the project is unable to be

         25  completed.
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          2                 I am fully committed to obtaining

          3  Federal funds for this project.  Not only is this an

          4  incredible opportunity to use a man made structure

          5  to provide park space and waterfront access, but the

          6  creation of an esplanade could serve as a catalyst

          7  for building other planned or proposed East Side

          8  waterfront access initiatives.               I

          9  applaud the City and the State for the steps they

         10  have taken to preserve the ODR and explore the

         11  possibility of turning this structure into an

         12  esplanade that will have an immeasurable benefit to

         13  the East Side community.  This is a golden

         14  opportunity for all levels of government to work

         15  together to create new park space and waterfront

         16  access on the east side of Manhattan. Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  Thank you, Ms.

         18  Krishna Swamy.

         19                 MS. SWAMI:  Yes.  You got it.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  I wanted a crack

         21  at that. Thank you.  A beautiful name.

         22                 MS. SWAMY:  Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  Would Mr. Lewis

         24  or Ms. Feinberg care to go next?

         25                 MS. FEINBERG:  Is it on?  Good
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          2  morning,  My name is Sheela Feinberg and I'm the

          3  Director of Government and Community Relations at

          4  New Yorkers for Parks, the only independent watch

          5  dog for all of the City's parks, beaches and

          6  playgrounds.  For nearly 100 years, New Yorkers for

          7  Parks has worked to ensure greener, safer, cleaner

          8  parks for all New Yorkers.

          9                 New Yorkers for Parks believes in the

         10  importance of promoting and preserving our coastal

         11  resources as public open space.  Through our

         12  Community Design program, New Yorkers for Parks

         13  explores land use opportunities with community

         14  groups working to create needed recreational access

         15  along our City's waterways.  The program has created

         16  designs for waterfront parks and industrial areas

         17  across the City.

         18                 Aside from the vital provision of

         19  waterfront accessibility, the conversion of

         20  industrial land to park land offers to the public,

         21  enhanced park and recreation opportunities,

         22  including water dependant recreation, such as piers

         23  and boat launches, and the protection of scenic

         24  resources.  However, it is essential that sufficient

         25  maintenance funding is provided for these waterfront
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          2  parks as they cost significantly more to maintain,

          3  due to the large expense of replacing and repairing

          4  bulkheads, pilings and docking.

          5                 I just want to give you a few

          6  examples of the community design programs that we

          7  have already completed, or are still underway,

          8  throughout the City.

          9                 In Queens, we are reclaiming the

         10  Vernon Boulevard Waterfront at Newtown Creek.  In

         11  2006, New Yorkers for Parks Community Design program

         12  collaborated with the Newtown Creek Alliance, to

         13  conceptualize the adoption of an industrial street

         14  end and waterfront into an urban amenity.  When

         15  completed, the site will introduce valuable public

         16  open space, while accommodating surrounding

         17  industrial uses.  And I just highlight this because

         18  I don't know if people saw the article, I think it

         19  was in last week's New York Magazine, that

         20  highlighted this actual project.

         21                 Conceptual designs for the Vernon

         22  Boulevard Waterfront were created through open

         23  dialog with the community. The designs introduce

         24  essential access to the waterfront, that co-exists

         25  with current industrial activity, link to propose
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          2  greenways and include storm water run off,

          3  management and techniques.  They represent shared

          4  community visions that have the potential to impact

          5  not only Long Island City and Hunters Point, but to

          6  serve as a reference for the City- wide

          7  revitalization of our urban and industrial

          8  waterfront landscapes.

          9                 The area is extremely under served

         10  for public open space, yet has great potential to be

         11  transformed in a way that balances quality of life

         12  and business needs.

         13                 As we all know, and as the City

         14  embarks on PlaNYC 2030, we envision the Vernon

         15  Boulevard Waterfront Project as a demonstration on

         16  how community planning and sustainable design can

         17  make a difference in the quality of life for local

         18  communities and businesses, while addressing City-

         19  wide needs.

         20                 I'll just give you two other quick

         21  examples.

         22  In the Bronx, we have been working on the Harlem

         23  River Waterfront. In the summer of 2005, we worked

         24  with the Friends of Brook Park and South Bronx

         25  residents, to create conceptual designs and advocate
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          2  for a piece of open space on the Harlem River in

          3  Mott Haven, Bronx. I think the Parks Department

          4  referenced this project in their testimony, as well.

          5  This project focused on creating a waterfront park

          6  for a community of over 200 thousand people, who

          7  virtually have no official waterfront access.  We

          8  have already received $200 thousand in grants toward

          9  this project, and look forward to increase funds

         10  that would make this park a reality.

         11                 And finally, since you asked what's

         12  happening with Staten Island, I wanted to give you a

         13  short answer, which is that we are working on Bard

         14  Avenue Street End Park.  Finally, this summer, New

         15  Yorkers for Parks is partnered with the North Shore

         16  Waterfront Conservancy, Members of the Livingston

         17  Civic Association and local fisherman, to create

         18  conceptual plans for the street end of Bard Avenue

         19  on the north shore of Staten Island.  As part of the

         20  NSWC's Blue Street Program, we are working to create

         21  plans that will allow for a safe, clean waterfront

         22  access point for the public.

         23                 These waterfront projects will not

         24  only create waterfront access, but will also extend

         25  water based transportation links to other boroughs
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          2  and allow community residents access to a variety of

          3  recreational opportunities.  Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.

          5                 Mr. Lewis?  Last but not least.

          6                 MR. LEWIS:  That's all right.

          7                 I am the President of Metropolitan

          8  Waterfront Alliance and --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Pull the mic to

         10  you and if the light is off, the mic is on.

         11                 MR. LEWIS:  Got it.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Okay.

         13                 MR. LEWIS:  Am I good?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  You're good.

         15                 MR. LEWIS:  All right.

         16                 I'm the President of the Metropolitan

         17  Waterfront Alliance, as of a few weeks ago.  A few

         18  of you know me as the former head of Habitat for

         19  Humanity.  And I've come to this new job with the

         20  same passion for justice and equity.  Because I do

         21  believe that just as every person in New York

         22  deserves a decent home to live in, we also need the

         23  equity of having access to our waterfront.  Okay?

         24                 So, I heard many of the Council

         25  people say the same sentiment and I applaud that.
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          2  And also I hope the Mayor's plan will reflect that

          3  as it unfolds.

          4                 I had a couple of weeks off between

          5  my two jobs and I decided I'd do something to

          6  combine my advocation with my new vocation.  I got

          7  on a bike and I biked the waterfront and I learned a

          8  few things.  We got a lot of waterfront.  And I'm

          9  not quite as young as I used to be.  But I did see

         10  it all.  I saw it all and I learned a lot.  And I

         11  just want to tell you a couple of things, then I

         12  will prepare written testimony for the Committee at

         13  a later date.

         14                 But, I did see that there are

         15  tremendous parks out there and they're not as

         16  populated as we would like to see.  I think access

         17  is a huge issue.  Up land access, as we were talking

         18  about Yankee Stadium, but also water borne access.

         19  You can't get to a lot of these parks.  And I was a

         20  lonely biker up at Riverdale Park.  We covered New

         21  Jersey and Liberty State Park.  A lot of these

         22  waterfront parks are just not easily gotten to by

         23  the 20 million people that live around them.

         24                 I also saw a lot of folks working

         25  around the waterfront.  I applaud the idea of
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          2  balance.  As we speak right now, there's another

          3  press conference that I was not able to attend,

          4  about the Brooklyn Waterfront being named one of the

          5  11 most endangered historic resources in the nation.

          6    Now, that's looking in the past and there

          7  certainly can be a lot to be preserved, but think

          8  about the present and the future.  There's still a

          9  lot of people working on the waterfront.  We need to

         10  balance those blue collared jobs that are still out

         11  there, with the need for more waterfront.

         12                 I'd like to just also, I think you've

         13  all received this, you heard Councilman Garodnick

         14  talk about the charette that we co-sponsored with

         15  the Municipal Art Society.  There's another great

         16  event that I think you should all make time to

         17  attend and it's regard to the East River.  It's the

         18  same topics we've been talking about.  We're

         19  highlighting the work of 40 groups, over 40 groups,

         20  now 46.  They are doing all sorts of amazing,

         21  wonderful activities.  We were just referring to a

         22  couple of them, Newtown Creek.  All the way from

         23  Fort Schueller (phonetic) down to the South Street

         24  Seaport, all up and down the East River we'll have a

         25  boat, the Council Members are welcome to come aboard
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          2  the boat, meet these groups, hear the great work

          3  they're doing, and understand that we're at a moment

          4  in time right now, that I think we've all been

          5  talking about.  What we do and decide in the next

          6  decade, will affect what our children and grand

          7  children and great grandchildren look at and see and

          8  enjoy as our City.  And I should mention New Jersey,

          9  too because we are New York and New Jersey.  The

         10  water doesn't discriminate between those boundaries.

         11    It goes either way.

         12                 So, please do come and join us on

         13  East River Day, a week from yesterday on the boat,

         14  or any of the landings that we'll be doing, and work

         15  with us, as we work with you, to make our waterfront

         16  a world class, as it should be, for a world class

         17  City. Thank you very much.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  I just have a

         19  quick question. Every October I walk in the Breast

         20  Cancer 40 mile walk, and I notice we walk up the

         21  West Side.  In your biking, did you notice as you

         22  changed, this would be a leading question, but we're

         23  not in court.

         24                 MR. LEWIS:  Go ahead.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  As you changed
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          2  neighborhoods, did you notice a change in the upkeep

          3  or the conditions of the park?

          4                 MR. LEWIS:  Surely, of course I did.

          5  I think you know in the wealthier neighborhoods,

          6  frankly, they were better maintained.  Maybe because

          7  of the private groups we were talking about before,

          8  pouring more money in.

          9                 I also noticed in the Gateway

         10  National Park, a remarkable difference between

         11  Staten Island side and some Jersey side and

         12  Brooklyn, and actually parts of Queens.   So, even

         13  within that park, just in terms of the trash pick up

         14  and the maintenance, there is tremendous difference.

         15  And it's unfortunate.  I think it's something we're

         16  going to work to address with sister organizations

         17  to try and clean it all up.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.  I

         19  appreciate your enthusiasm.  It's nice.

         20                 MR. LEWIS:  All right.  Well, thank

         21  you for that. Good to see you again.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  Thank you and

         23  all the panel.

         24                 Some of those blue collar jobs are on

         25  the waterfront.  They're very nice high paying jobs.
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          2    Good union jobs there.

          3                 MR. LEWIS:  It's an expensive City to

          4  live in, isn't it?

          5                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  Right, which

          6  we're trying to protect, as well.  Thank you.

          7                 MR. LEWIS:  Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  Is there another

          9  panel?  Oh, thank you.  Do you want to do it?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Linda Eskenas?

         11                 MS. ESKENAS:  Perfect.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Did I really?

         13  Oh, thank you.

         14                 Beryl Thurman and Amy Lavaris?  I

         15  didn't get that right though, did I?  That was no.

         16                 Oh, that's a G?  Oh, sorry.

         17                 We can, whichever way, whomever wants

         18  to start first.

         19                 MS. THURMAN:  Hi,  My name is Beryl

         20  Thurman and I'm with the North Shore Waterfront

         21  Conservancy of Staten Island.  And I don't have

         22  anything to hand out because I just found out about

         23  this meeting last night, and I didn't even realize

         24  it was a hearing.  But I will tell you a few things

         25  that our organization has been working on and a few
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          2  of our concerns.

          3                 We are a volunteer-based organization

          4  and we're located on the North Shore of Staten

          5  Island.  The areas that we primarily deal with are

          6  from St. George to Arlington.

          7                 And it was mentioned about Arlington

          8  Marsh as a potential park site.  However, when they

          9  did the list, it was not listed as a potential park

         10  site because it falls under DEC and DOT, excuse me

         11  EDC and DOT.  And EDC has been trying to figure out

         12  whether they should be turning over this 80 acres of

         13  marshland to New York Container Terminal.  And a lot

         14  of the residents, as well as various civic groups

         15  and environmentalists, have been fighting very hard

         16  to have this property turned over to the protection

         17  of parks, and we would like that to happen.  And

         18  we'd like to see it happen, sooner rather than

         19  later.

         20                 As we move across the street, there's

         21  Mariners Marsh Park and this park became a New York

         22  City park in 1997.  And unfortunately, there is not

         23  enough funding for this former manufacturing site to

         24  be properly remediated and developed.

         25                 So, when we're talking to Parks
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          2  Department and we're asking how is this process

          3  coming along, you know they're saying it's coming

          4  along as well as possible, because of the lack of

          5  funding to push it through, and to get these things

          6  done.  And we really need that to happen.  Because

          7  on the North Shore of Staten Island, there are

          8  basically about four areas where the residents have

          9  waterfront access.  And none of those areas are very

         10  well maintained.  So, when you're saying

         11  sustainability, that means something to us.  Because

         12  they're not sustaining and maintaining them as it is

         13  now, we can't imagine what it's going to be like if

         14  we should get more parks.

         15                 The other locations that we're

         16  talking about are -- well, it's Faber Park, and

         17  during the ACOE, Army Corps of Engineers' blasting

         18  and dredging project their promenade area collapsed.

         19  And that's been like that for seven years now.

         20                 When you have a waterfront like ours,

         21  which is manufacturing, you have potential public

         22  access areas that could be pocket parks.  And our

         23  areas that we have basically focused on in doing

         24  waterfront cleanups are Van Name and Van Pelt and

         25  Mariners Harbor, Port Richmond Avenue in Port
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          2  Richmond and Bard Avenue at the end of Livingston

          3  and next to Snug Harbor.  Snug Harbor has an

          4  esplanade that is also part of New York City Parks

          5  area, and it too, is not properly maintained.  It is

          6  not well lit.  It is not well kept.  And people

          7  don't utilize it because they don't even know it's

          8  there.

          9                 So, I'm not going to talk about the

         10  Blissenbach property.  I'm going to let Linda

         11  Eskenas talk about that because that's been her baby

         12  for quite awhile.

         13                 But, the thing is that we're saying

         14  is, if they're going to say we're giving you parks,

         15  then it would be nice if they actually put in the

         16  money, meaning the funding, to maintain them. And

         17  for the pocket parks that we're trying to develop,

         18  like Bard Avenue and Port Richmond and Van Name, Van

         19  Pelt, we need those areas.  Because we have all

         20  these people living here and our children don't even

         21  know that they live on an island.  Because they've

         22  never seen the water.

         23                 So, the last thing I want to say and

         24  then I'll turn over the mic is, is when the Army

         25  Corps of Engineers was doing the blasting in the
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          2  Kill Van Kull to deepen it, I asked them why didn't

          3  they have in their scope to actually clean the

          4  waterfront along the Kill Van Kull?  And they said

          5  it's because the State of New York and the State of

          6  New Jersey, in the past, would provide funding for

          7  it.  They actually contributed to it and they

          8  stopped.  And so when they stopped giving money

          9  towards having the waterfronts cleaned, the ACOE

         10  stopped doing it.  So, now it's being left up to

         11  volunteers such as my organization, to organize

         12  waterfront cleanups and to try as best as we can

         13  with the limited resources that we have, to try and

         14  clean our waterfronts along the north shore.

         15                 And that's pretty much all I'd like

         16  to say at this time.  Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  Well thank you.

         18  We always appreciate people from the public come and

         19  testify showing their true dedication towards this

         20  City.  We'll have some more questions I think, about

         21  as far as that money situation, why have they been

         22  held up?   I'm sure you've -- have you contacted

         23  your local Council members?

         24                 MS. THURMAN:  Yes.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  Good.  Okay.
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          2  Enough said with that and I'm sure they'll be

          3  following through with this Committee.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  She said yes a

          5  little too quickly.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  I know.  That's

          7  why I said okay, enough said at the moment.

          8                 Ms. Eskenas is going to speak next?

          9                 Whoever, Amy?

         10                 MS. GAVARIS:  Yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  Okay.

         12                 MS. GAVARIS:  Amy Gavaris from the

         13  New York Restoration Project, Executive Vice

         14  President for Bette Midler's Organization.

         15                 We are very grateful to the

         16  Committee's ongoing support of our work, and honored

         17  to be working with many of you here.  We also

         18  welcome your interest in adapting the City's

         19  formerly industrial waterfronts into public park

         20  land.

         21                 NYRP is proud to play and important

         22  role in the transformation of our City's beautiful

         23  waterfronts, by reclaiming and restoring parks and

         24  waterfronts in northern Manhattan and in the South

         25  Bronx, in partnership with New York City Council and
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          2  the New York City Department of Parks and

          3  Recreation.

          4                 NYRP has contributed to the

          5  revitalization of some of the City's most undeserved

          6  neighborhoods and catalyzed the restoration of the

          7  Harlem River waterfront.

          8                 Swindler Cove Park is one of our

          9  proudest achievements and demonstrates how the

         10  public and private sectors can effectively work

         11  together to revitalize and develop park land for the

         12  benefit of all New Yorkers.  From 1996 to 1999, we

         13  removed tens of thousands of tons of garbage,

         14  construction debris and sunken boats along the

         15  Harlem River.  Then we partnered with the State of

         16  New York, which invested $8.9 million in the Park

         17  Project, to transform the land we reclaimed into a

         18  beautiful river front park.

         19                 In 2006, and with the support from

         20  the New York State Environmental Protection Fund's

         21  Local Water Front Revitalization Program, NYRP

         22  reclaimed an additional 600 linear feet of shore

         23  line along Sherman Creek, and connected the inlet to

         24  Swindler Cove Park and the Manhattan waterfront

         25  greenway, by creating a pedestrian mulch trail.  The
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          2  project was completed this Spring and now benefits

          3  over 210,000 Washington Heights and Inwood

          4  residents, who can for the first time in decades,

          5  access and enjoy this scenic stretch of the Harlem

          6  River.

          7                 In 2003, NYRP looked across the

          8  Harlem River to the South Bronx shore line and saw

          9  our next challenge.  And in partnership with City

         10  and State agencies and local community groups, we

         11  are restoring waterfront access and developing

         12  public open spaces in Roberto Clemente State Park

         13  and in Bridge Park, formerly mentioned by Council

         14  Member Foster, formerly undeveloped City park land

         15  immediately to the south of the state park.

         16                 NYRP has committed significant

         17  resources to trash collection, native plant

         18  restoration and waterfront access projects in these

         19  parks.  And with the Department of Parks and

         20  Recreation, was awarded a $350 thousand grant for

         21  development of public space at Bridge Park.

         22                 Earlier this year, NYRP began forming

         23  a coalition to develop a master plan for the Harlem

         24  River.  This coalition will propose a transformation

         25  of the region through waterfront redevelopment
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          2  projects, in both Upper Manhattan, and South Bronx.

          3  We hope that with significant improvements to the

          4  shore line and the addition of public amenities, the

          5  Harlem River will become an educational and

          6  recreational destination, serve as a linchpin

          7  linking waterfront open spaces on both sides of the

          8  river and ensure that everyone, especially those

          9  living in impoverished and densely populated urban

         10  areas, have access to nature and to vibrant and well

         11  designed open space.

         12                 We look forward to continuing our

         13  partnership with the Parks and Waterfront Committee

         14  on your future initiatives, especially those that

         15  will improve the beauty and accessibility of

         16  waterfronts within the distressed northern Manhattan

         17  and South Bronx communities we serve.  Thank you

         18  very much.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.

         20                 Let me just ask a few questions.  Ms.

         21  Thurman, the money that was funded for the clean up

         22  of the waterfront that your volunteer organization

         23  now does, was that a question of not having enough

         24  funds or what happened?  Or do you know?

         25                 MS. THURMAN:   The thing of about it
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          2  is, is we -- Council Member McMahon did give our

          3  group $5,000.  And $5,000 seems like a lot of money

          4  to some people, but it doesn't go a very long way

          5  with the amount of clean up that needs to take place

          6  on our waterfront.  I mean, it may be enough to send

          7  out a few pamphlets and a couple of flyers and buy a

          8  weed whacker or two, but we're talking about tons of

          9  debris that has floated through the sewers over

         10  years onto the waterfront.  So, what we need is not

         11   --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Discretionary,

         13  you need like a line item type of thing.

         14                 MS. THURMAN:  And to be perfectly

         15  honest, it's not that we're asking for the money for

         16  our group.  We want it cleaned up.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Right,  You just

         18  want it cleaned up.

         19                 MS. THURMAN:  And the organization,

         20  or I should say the department or agency that is

         21  most equipped to do this type of cleanup, is

         22  probably the Army Corps of Engineers, because they

         23  have the equipment.  They have the manpower.  What

         24  they don't have is allocation of funding for it.

         25  And there could be other small people that we can go
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          2  to, but you know, we could maybe ask New York

          3  Container Terminal or even some of the waste

          4  transfer stations to help us out.  But they would be

          5  doing that based on their schedule and the goodness

          6  of their heart.  But it's not like it's something

          7  that is being pushed to have happen through a main

          8  channel with real coordination and real

          9  implementation.  Do you know what I'm saying?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  No, no, I

         11  understand.

         12                 And I'm sorry, I didn't realize that

         13  we hadn't heard from Linda.  So, I apologize.  So

         14  since I started questions, let me just finish.

         15                 What I would recommend in addition,

         16  because this is larger than Council Member McMahon

         17  and his office, is to reach out to your Congressman

         18  for the Federal funding necessary, I mean, if it's

         19  that type of cleanup.  It's not just one agency or

         20  one elected official.

         21                 MS. THURMAN:  Right, and I understand

         22  that. However, we the people, are just we, the

         23  people.  It kind of helps if the City of New York is

         24  actually reaching out to our State and Federal

         25  officials to say, can we make this a joint effort?
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          2  There is an interest on the part of the residents.

          3  Just me and my organization going to Congressman

          4  Fosella's office or Senator Clinton's office or

          5  Senator Shumer's office, is not going to mean much

          6  to them.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Well, two

          8  things.  Don't underestimate your power, because

          9  you've got to remind them that we're here to serve

         10  you and not vice versa, because you put us in

         11  office, number one.  And number two, the fact that

         12  you're here, you've put it on the record, and so

         13  when I say reach out, I don't mean without the

         14  assistance of this Committee and what we've just

         15  heard, but it is important.

         16                 The last thing I want to say is don't

         17  sell yourself short or your organization short,

         18  because your power is in your ability to elect or

         19  non elect people.

         20                 MS. THURMAN:  In some instances, when

         21  it comes to the north shore of Staten Island, it has

         22  tended to run on the Democratic side.  And our

         23  Congressman is Republican, so he doesn't really

         24  count on the north shore for his votes.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  More realism
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          2  than necessary, but I understand what you're saying,

          3  though.

          4                 MS. THURMAN:  Okay, thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  Yes, I do.

          6                 Also, as far as the inside, the beach

          7  part, wouldn't Parks be willing to trying to help

          8  you?

          9                 MS. THURMAN:  For the projects along

         10  the north shore, Van Name, Van Pelt is the only area

         11  that actually has sand. And that is basically City

         12  property.  However, it does not technically belong

         13  to Parks, because for our street ends, they have not

         14  adopted them, even though we have put forth the

         15  request, it hasn't come through, and I don't know if

         16  there is anyone from Parks left, but I was --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  Yes, Mike is

         18  here.

         19                 MS. THURMAN:  They're not nearly as

         20  aggressive as I would like to see them be, in taking

         21  on some of the things that we're interested, in

         22  regard to Staten Island and putting up the

         23  proverbial fight.  We would like for Parks to be a

         24  lot more aggressive in saying what it is they need

         25  in order to do their job. If that means they need
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          2  more help physically as far as employees, then they

          3  should say that.  If they're saying they need more

          4  funding so that they can actually maintain and clean

          5  the parks, then they should say that.  But they

          6  don't seem to say it loud enough so that enough

          7  people hear it so that it happens.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  Did the Borough

          9  Parks Commissioner attend one of your meetings or a

         10  Community Board meeting or however that's --

         11                 MS. THURMAN:  We've met with

         12  Commissioner Pollow (phonetic). He's a very nice

         13  gentleman, but once again, I think that his hands

         14  are tied because there's only so much that he can

         15  ask for.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  Gotcha (sic.)

         17  Thank you, right, Linda Eskenas?

         18                 MS. ESKENAS:  I guess this is

         19  working.  Yes, thank you.

         20                 I wanted to talk with you about, I

         21  too, don't have written testimony, but I will supply

         22  you with this wonderful map and so forth.  But I did

         23  give you that purple packet with some of our things

         24  in it.

         25                 This is about maybe one of the
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          2  greatest assets New York City has.  And it's along

          3  the Kill Van Kull of Turtle Island which is what the

          4  Indians called Staten Island.  This is an

          5  extraordinary place.  It's from 2100 B.C. until now,

          6  a projectile was found that was an Indian before

          7  arrowheads to now.  This was on high ground which

          8  stands above Richmond Terrace.  That's where the

          9  Indians stood and they looked at the Kill Van Kull

         10  and that's where they had an Indian burial ground

         11  and where they lived.  There's Revolutionary War

         12  sites there and Civil War veterans are buried there.

         13    The emancipation of the blacks was there in 1827.

         14  It's as almost nothing didn't happen here, General

         15  Sullivan during the Revolution, there was a small

         16  battle there.

         17                 But the waterfront, after 30 years of

         18  struggle, we are the North Shore Waterfront

         19  Greenbelt.  We got a park.  It's not the Blissenbach

         20  Park, that's just the wrong name.  It's the North

         21  Shore Waterfront Greenbelt Park and it overlooks the

         22  Kill Van Kull. Now this waterfront, is amazing.

         23  This is potentially, as I said, one of the greatest

         24  assets we have, and it has been almost completely

         25  wasted.  This waterfront can go from, it connects
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          2  with New York City with the rest of all the boroughs

          3  in New York City, across the ferry and with the

          4  Greenway Trail, we can walk with the ships along the

          5  shore of the Kill Van Kull, to the sacred sites of

          6  West Brighton, which is, as I said, the Indian

          7  burial ground, the Trinity Church cemetery 1801,

          8  1850 and other cemeteries, Staten Island Cemetery

          9  and the Fountains.  This is an extraordinary place

         10  and also has many wonderful frame houses there. And

         11  now with this housing shortage, we should have

         12  people there who will restore our houses and our

         13  community together with the people who are

         14  struggling now.

         15                 We have the waterfront but we have

         16  this waterfront park, which is on the water's edge.

         17  It was a boat marina.  And what we see is to

         18  encourage the natural waterfront, the Spartina, and

         19  to have perhaps in honor of the Indians, a dream

         20  catcher.  Do you know what they are?  They're this

         21  wonderful, yes.  To have one in the water, so that

         22  when you look you can make your dreams come true.

         23                 This is incredible because for so

         24  many years this has been a waste, yet we have

         25  struggled and have gotten this park, but we need to
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          2  have it mitigated apparently, which will cost $11

          3  million dollars.  John Pollow, who is terrific has

          4  always worked with us.

          5                 Also, we do have, we work with

          6  everybody, Mike McMahon has been terrific and the

          7  Borough President gave us $350 thousand.  But

          8  apparently, it's never enough because we need to

          9  mitigate it before we can design it.  We see the

         10  design as a simple design, but this connected with

         11  the greenway, would connect all the boroughs, New

         12  York City, with all the cultural Snug Harbor, seven

         13  and a half blocks away, with all these historic

         14  areas.  And by the way, it was a literary enclave in

         15  the 1800s and Anna LeAnn Owens, Anna actually came

         16  right to that spot and taught there and had her

         17  school there and wrote her memoirs there.

         18                 But this is a place that is, I mean

         19  it's an undiscovered country and it's there.  So, we

         20  can have not just, it should ba a Richmond town on

         21  the waterfront, you can use these terms.  But really

         22  an 18th, 19th century waterway with a great

         23  community of people restoring their homes, not going

         24  through destruction that we have seen so much with

         25  this hideous over development and the rape of Staten
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          2  Island.

          3                 But we need to have of course the

          4  money for the parks.  One essential thing is as you

          5  know, it's visual access of the waterfront that's

          6  important, as well as walking there.  So, we would

          7  walk, you know, people could get off the boat, the

          8  poor people get on the boat, they don't know where

          9  they are when they get off.  An international icon,

         10  they could walk and people who want to live there

         11  could actually walk home, and along this waterfront

         12  to the sacred sites in this great park.

         13                 What we need is, there are two lots,

         14  three really, really more, I will send you, the

         15  whole waterfront is Lot 187.  I'm sorry, it's 185

         16  and the Block is 187 and 170.  Right now there are a

         17  couple of polluters there, they'll go in time, I

         18  think.   Because these lots are City- owned lots and

         19  the Parks Department wants them and there's also

         20  little 234, that is sort of dear to me.  I've been

         21  looking at the maps for so long.  And there are

         22  other lots, I won't name.  But we need to have those

         23  lots transferred to the Parks Department so that we

         24  can have this Greenbelt come true.

         25                 We've been getting these lots all of
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          2  these years and now it just looks awful.  But if we

          3  get these lots, which is absolutely necessary that

          4  would go right and join the Greenway and the

          5  waterfront.  We have the strip along the waterfront

          6  and nine and half acres, actually, four in the water

          7  of where the boat marina was.

          8                 This will bring about an economic

          9  environmental and cultural renaissance to the north

         10  shore, which is one of New York's greatest assets

         11  and unknown before this.  Thank you.  So, we need

         12  the Greenway Trail and we need those lots.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  Yes, there's no

         14  need to over state your case.  This chair has seen a

         15  lot of pictures of this Council in eight years and

         16  this has been some of the most impressive.

         17                 MS: ESKENAS:  There's more.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  Yes and there's

         19  a lot of preservationist organizations and groups

         20  and individuals and so on. Have you spoken to all of

         21  them?

         22                 MS. ESKENAS:  I am the Vice President

         23  of the Preservation League of Staten Island, but

         24  this is the North Shore Waterfront Greenbelt.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  Landmarks, City,
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          2  State, Federal.

          3                 MS. ESKENAS:  Yes, well, it's very

          4  hard to get a Landmark district.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  Yes, no doubt.

          6  But this is like reeking with history, the

          7  abolitionist part of it alone.

          8                 MS. ESKENAS:  It is.  Oh, I know.  I

          9  know Frederick Douglas spoke here.  It's amazing.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  It's got to be.

         11  And it probably has to start with your local elected

         12  officials, we understand part of this.

         13                 MS., ESKENAS:  Yes.  We were

         14  proposing a special waterfront and historic

         15  district, so that's encompassing --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  I mean Democrat,

         17  Republican, Independent, it goes beyond this.

         18                 MS. ESKENAS:  Everyone has been

         19  positive but yet nothing happens.  And so we have

         20  these trucks, they are some polluters and we have

         21  children with asthma and so forth, an old story.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  Something here,

         23  DEP?  Gennaro's Committee?

         24                 MS. ESKENAS:  And it's a place where

         25  people can really come together and I don't know,
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          2  there was a talk of gentrification and somebody once

          3  said I'd rather eat quiche than get mugged.

          4                 But aside from that, it's not about

          5  that.  It's now. It's now.  And it's about people

          6  working together and coming together and forming

          7  communities and saying what they need working with

          8  City Council and everybody to make it a real

          9  magnificent place.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  You enchanted

         11  me.  I want to get up there and take a walk around

         12  there.

         13                 MS. ESKENAS:  Please.  I better go

         14  with you, just across the Kill.  New Jersey, you

         15  know, has a very simple park but they have the whole

         16  waterfront, this walkway and --

         17                 MS. THURMAN:  They have a golf

         18  course, too.

         19                 MS. ESKENAS:  It's amazing.  But they

         20  do have that right across, so it's like the good and

         21  evil sister.  It's been rough, I can tell you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: What I'd like to

         23  do after this is over, give both of you cards and we

         24  can just start a conversation.  I don't know that,

         25  at least we can start it and see where we go in
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          2  terms of getting the clean up and the designation.

          3                 MS. ESKENAS:  The fact that we got a

          4  New York City waterfront park is almost, I don't

          5  know, one of the greatest achievements.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Of course we

          7  have Mike here and he'll tell us what we need to do.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  The diamond in

          9  the rough here.

         10                 MS. ESKENAS:  Exactly.  Thank you

         11  very much.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  Thank you so

         14  much.

         15                 A very interesting way to end off

         16  this hearing on the Committee on Waterfronts and

         17  Parks.  We thank you all for your time and effort

         18  coming.

         19                 This hearing is out of session.

         20  Thank you.

         21                 (Hearing concluded at 12:45 p.m.)
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